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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO

WESTERN DIVISION

THE TOLEDO BLADE CO.,
JETTA FRASER,

and
TYREL LINKHORN,

Plaintiffs,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
CHARLES T. HAGEL, in his official
capacity as United States Secretary
Defense, LT. COL. MATTHEW
HODGE personally and in his
official capacity as Commandant of
the  Joint Systems Manufacturing
Center, LT. [First Name Unknown]
STELZER, personally and in his
official capacity as a member of the
Military Police, [Military Rank and
First Name Unknown] WORKMAN,
personally and in his official capacity
as a member of the Military Police,
and [Military Rank and First Name
Unknown] SNYDER, personally and
in his official capacity as a member of
the Military Police, and MICHELLE
[Military Status and Last Name
Unknown], personally and in her
official capacity as an agent or
employee of the United States
Department of Defense.
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Case No.:

Judge:

MOTION FOR A TEMPORARY
RESTRAINING ORDER WITH
MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT
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Plaintiffs in the above-captioned action move the Court for a temporary restraining order

pursuant to F.R.Civ.P. 65(b) enjoining the Defendants and each of them, as well as the Defendants’

officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and all those in active concert or participation

with them, to refrain from taking any action of any kind to tamper with, alter, destroy, or otherwise

spoliate any evidence that is in the possession or custody of or subject to the control of the

Defendants and material to the facts and claims set out in Plaintiffs’ Complaint,.  In particular,

plaintiffs seek an order enjoining the Defendants from engaging in any such conduct in regard to

any recordings of any kind in any medium, whether video or audio or photographic or otherwise,

that record any part or all of the events at the Buckeye Road entrance to the Joint Systems

Manufacturing Center in Allen County, Ohio, on March 28, 2014, as described in the Complaint.

Plaintiffs further move for such an order requiring the Defendants and each of them to take all

necessary steps to preserve any such evidence, including specifically any recordings of the above-

referenced events of March 28, 2014.

The ground for this motion, as set out more fully in the accompanying Memorandum, is

that an immediate temporary restraining order is required in order to prevent immediate and

irreparable injury, loss, or damage to Plaintiffs.

Plaintiffs’ counsel certifies that he has made the following efforts to notify Defendants of

Plaintiffs’ intention to seek the relief requested in the present motion.

I called Holly Taft Sydlow at the United States Attorney’s Office at approximately 11:05 am

on Friday, April 4, 2014 and told her of my intention to seek this relief.  

       /s/ Fritz Byers          

Fritz Byers (0002337)
The Spitzer Building, Suite 824
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520 Madison Avenue
Toledo, Ohio 43604
Phone: 419-241-8013
Mobile: 419-654-8013
Telecopier: 419-241-4215
E-mail: fritz@fritzbyers.com

Counsel for Plaintiffs



1 Plaintiffs do not know whether any such recordings do in fact exist. Given the military
character of the Joint Systems Manufacturing Center, and the disturbing conduct of the Defendants
undertaken in the supposed name of “security,” however, it appears highly probable that the
Center’s premises – including the public entry area where the events at issue took place – are
monitored by videorecording equipment.
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MEMORANDUM

As described in the Verified Complaint, this is an action for damages and declaratory and

injunctive relief arising out of the astonishingly lawless conduct of the Defendants in detaining and

assaulting journalists who were engaged in the entirely lawful – and constitutionally protected –

activity of taking photographs while they were in a place where they had every right to be. As also

described in the Verified Complaint, Defendants were not content with these constitutional

violations but went on to unlawfully confiscate Plaintiffs’ camera equipment and photographs and

then destroy the photographs before returning the equipment to Plaintiffs. Indeed,

Defendants’ wanton disregard for the Constitution and for federal law reached not only to

destroying the photographs that were the supposed reason for their conduct but also to the

destruction of other photos that had absolutely nothing at all to do with the Joint Systems

Manufacturing Center.

In the present motion, Plaintiffs request that the Court enter a temporary restraining order

forbidding the Defendants from further tampering with, destroying, or otherwise spoliating

material evidence that is in their possession or control. In particular, Plaintiffs seek an order

commanding the Defendants to preserve – and prohibiting them from spoliating – any recordings

(audio, video, or otherwise) in their control that document any part of the events that are the

subject of the present case.1



2 Beaven v. United States Dept. of Justice, 622 F.3d 540, 553-554 (6th Cir. 2010). See also Silvestri v.
General Motors Corp., 271 F.3d 583, 591 (4th Cir. 2001) (“The duty to preserve material evidence
arises not only during litigation but also extends to that period before the litigation when a party
reasonably should know that the evidence may be relevant to anticipated litigation”); Kronisch v.
United States, 150 F.3d 112, 126 (2d Cir. 1998) (“Th[e] obligation to preserve evidence arises when
the party has notice that the evidence is relevant to litigation – most commonly when suit has
already been filed, providing the party responsible for the destruction with express notice, but also
on occasion in other circumstances, as for example when a party should have known that the
evidence may be relevant to future litigation.”).
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Under long-settled principles, of course, a person in control of potentially relevant evidence

has an obligation to preserve the evidence, and this obligation arises whenever the person should

know that the evidence might be relevant in pending or potential future litigation.2 In the usual

case, this fundamental principle (together with the usually reasonable assumption that parties

ordinarily conform their conduct to legal requirements) might well be sufficient to assure against

the Defendants’ destruction or spoliation of any recordings in their control documenting the events

in question here. This is not, however, a usual or ordinary case.

In fact, as set forth in the Verified Complaint, the Defendants have already demonstrated in

this very case a breathtaking disregard for any preservation obligations and, indeed, for any legal

limits at all on their conduct in regard to evidence. As noted above, Defendants unlawfully seized

Plaintiffs’ camera equipment and photographs and then destroyed the photographs, including

photographs that had no relation at all to the supposed reasons for the original seizure. This

destruction was done consciously and deliberately, and it took place long after Defendants knew or

had every reason to know that they had no legal right of any kind even to have seized the photos,

much less to have destroyed them.

If the Defendants had competent legal advice before the destruction, then they acted in the

face of the certain knowledge that the seizure and destruction were not only unconstitutional but

specifically contrary to the First Amendment Privacy Protection Act, 42 U.S.C. § 2000aa. If, on the



-6-

other hand, with no exigent reason for doing so, Defendants destroyed the photos without first

seeking legal counsel, then their conduct demonstrated an appalling insouciance about the limits of

their lawful powers and a grievously mistaken – indeed, dangerous – belief that the law does not

apply to them.

In either case, the behavior of the Defendants regarding the photos that they have already

destroyed makes it highly inappropriate to rely on the normal assumption that litigants ordinarily

adhere to their legal obligations to preserve relevant evidence.  Instead, the behavior of the

Defendants raises the powerful contrary inference that, unless they are directly and specifically

ordered otherwise, they will blithely engage in the same practice of destroying evidence that they

have demonstrated in the immediate past.

Any recordings of the events that do exist will, of course, constitute neutral and objective

evidence of what actually occurred during the alarming events of March 28, 2014. The interests of

the parties and the public interest can only be well served by the preservation of the recordings.

And, conversely, any spoliation of the recordings will of necessity be a source of irreparable injury

both to the interests of the Plaintiffs and to the public interest.

In short, an order by this Court prohibiting the spoliation of the recordings and

commanding their preservation is required to prevent irreparable harm to the parties and to the

public. The Court should grant this motion and issue the order.

        /s/ Fritz Byers          
Fritz Byers (0002337)
The Spitzer Building, Suite 824
520 Madison Avenue
Toledo, Ohio 43604
Phone: 419-241-8013
Mobile: 419-654-8013
Telecopier: 419-241-4215
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E-mail: fritz@fritzbyers.com

Counsel for Plaintiffs


